**RECEIVED**

**May 05 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

R. Kirk Griffin, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-001586

---

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

v.

Diontrae Travon Epps,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Dayne Phillips  
PRICE BENEWITZ LLP  
1614 Taylor Street, Ste. D.  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 807-0234

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

##

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Trial Court err by granting the State's motion for continuance to investigate the State's failure to disclose exculpatory evidence and by denying Appellant's motion to dismiss when the resulting unfair prejudice denied his right to a fair trial?
  
- II. Did the Trial Court err in refusing to suppress the Facebook video clip of Appellant purportedly threatening the Decedent because the untimely disclosure by the State resulted in unfair prejudice denying Appellant's right to a fair trial?
  
- III. Did the Trial Court err by admitting a Facebook video clip of Appellant purportedly threatening the Decedent because the State's witness did not have sufficient knowledge to authenticate the video?
  
- IV. Did the Trial Court err by admitting a Facebook video clip of Appellant purportedly threatening the Decedent because of the inherent unfair prejudice in the misleading impression created by taking Appellant's statement out of context?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 30, 2020, the Sumter County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Diontrae Travon Epps, for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (R. 938 - 939).

On August 14, 2023, Appellant initially proceeded to trial before the Honorable R. Kirk Griffin. (R. 1 – 50). Shaun Kent and Jack Furse represented the Appellant, and Solicitors Ernest Finney and Jason Corbett appeared on behalf of the State. After jury selection, the Trial Court granted the State’s motion for continuance based on the issues raised by Defense Counsel regarding the State’s failure to disclose exculpatory evidence and failure to timely disclose material evidence. (R. 47, lines 7-20).

On September 25–29, 2023, Appellant again proceeded to trial before Judge Griffin and a different jury. Shaun Kent and Jack Furse represented Appellant, and Solicitors Ernest Finney and Jason Corbett prosecuted the case on behalf of the State. The jury returned guilty verdicts as charged. (R. 902, lines 2-9). The Trial Court sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment for the murder conviction and ordered that “there will be no sentence on the weapons charge.” (R. 911, lines 4-10; R. 934 – 937).

On October 9, 2023, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal. (R. 940 – 941). This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### *Background*

The State's theory of the case: The "Sunoco Shootout" occurred at the "Hop-In" convenience store in downtown Sumter on September 9, 2019, because of animosity created by a Facebook video clip where Appellant purportedly threatened the Decedent. Specifically, the State sought to prove that Appellant fatally shot the Decedent during an altercation in the parking lot of that store. In his defense, Defense Counsel presented expert opinion testimony from Kenneth Kinsey that, based on the evidence, Appellant did not shoot the Decedent and could not be guilty of murdering the Decedent.

### *First Trial*

On August 14, 2023, Appellant initially proceeded to trial before Judge Griffin. (R. 1 – 50). After jury selection, Defense Counsel informed the Trial Court that he had "received a phone call last night from a fellow attorney . . . who provided [Defense Counsel with] some information about potential exculpatory information that may have been garnered from the federal government." (R. 39, lines 10-14).

Defense Counsel stated that he and his associate "received a text message . . . at exactly 1240 telling us that the information that we had - - that I had garnered from this attorney last evening was accurate." (R. 39, lines 19-22). Defense Counsel then instructed his associate "to contact the AUSA who was referenced about potential exculpatory information that was not provided to the Defense." (R. 39, line 23 – 40, line 1). Defense Counsel noted, "it was suggested that the AUSA provided potential exculpatory information to a [former] solicitor concerning a potential self-defense allegation by a witness who is potentially – not potentially was in federal custody." (R. 400, lines 5-9).

Defense Counsel explained, “This information was written and triggered and what is commonly referred to as a 302 or a DA6, which was in information from this witness, was on both of our witness lists”, and the “[t]he AUSA said they attempted to give this information to the then solicitor[.]” (R. 40, lines 10-14). Defense Counsel clarified, “I think the quote from the AUSA was the solicitor – then – then assistant solicitor informed them that this information would be hurtful to their case and they did not want to have this information.” (R. 40, lines 21-24). Defense Counsel told the Trial Court, “The potential self-defense information was never given over to our office whatsoever.” (R. 40, lines 24-25).

Notably, Defense Counsel also put on the record, “*I informed the Court that we still would be willing and ready and wanted to go forward with trial today.*” (R. 41, lines 9-10) (emphasis added). Defense Counsel reiterated, “But long and short to make it very simple, the information given to the Court is that the federal government potentially was in possession of exculpatory information that a then solicitor on this case refused to accept or acknowledge, so that it would not have to be provided to the Defense.” (R. 42, lines 1-6).

In response, Solicitor Finney stated, “we feel like a continuance would be the only proper thing to – to do at this point, so that these matters can be investigated” because “[o]bviously the information that was given to the Court today would be of some assistance to [Appellant] and his lawyer, if it pans out.” (R. 42, lines 11-15). Specifically, Solicitor Finney asked the Trial Court to grant the motion for continuance to the next term of court. (R. 42, lines 21-24).

Defense Counsel replied to the State’s request for a continuance as follows:

Judge ... we would *not* join in the motion. I’ve spent the entirety of the weekend preparing for this case. Very little sleep, shall we say. Coming back for (sic) the mountains catching the flight back. So we are ready – ready to go forward on. [Appellant], and I appreciate what the Court’s, I mean, the solicitor’s concerns are, but *I can assure you we are prepared and ready to go forward.*

(R. 43, lines 2-8) (emphasis added).

Defense Counsel also argued that the State failed to timely disclose a “voluminous” amount of evidence prior to trial. (R. 44, lines 10-17). Defense Counsel further noted that the missing evidence was only discovered because his associate and paralegal went to the Solicitor’s Office to review the prosecution’s file in preparation for trial. (R. 44, lines 17-25). Defense Counsel noted his concern with the untimely disclosure of evidence:

[G]iven the new chief administrative order, my concern is that this case was placed on the trial docket and ready to go. And my understanding is it is assumed that all discovery is going to be provided at the time that the case is on the trial docket and called for trial. *That Facebook video was not given until Friday...* We believe that there is some information missing from the video that we wouldn’t have had time to go look for. *It is a clip that somebody has clipped portions of it*, so it would probably violate the rule of completeness. It’s not an entirety of the video.

(R. 45, line 14 – 46, line 1) (emphasis added).

Notably, Defense Counsel explained why he did not want a continuance: “[M]y fear is that the State, by asking for a continuance, then come September 25<sup>th</sup>, can say, *Well, we had it provided in plenty of time.*” (R. 46, lines 5-7) (emphasis added).

The Trial Court responded, “Well your – objection and motion with regard to discovery is noted. I’m not going to rule on that motion here today because I think the [continuance] motion is – is the more pressing motion at this time.” (R. 46, lines 14-17). The Trial Court ultimately granted the State’s motion for continuance:

[S]ince this issue does involve potentially exculpatory information and because all we know right now are that there are allegations that these things were done, I think justice requires this case be continued to afford the parties and (sic) opportunity to investigate these issues to determine whether any of this information is valid. And if so, what are the appropriate steps to take after the investigation is done. So I certainly don’t want to continue the case, but I feel that justice

requires, and it is my obligation as the trial judge to continue this case to the week of September 25th. That should give the parties an adequate amount of time to address these concerns, which have been raised here today.

(R. 47, lines 7-20).

### ***Second Trial***

On September 25–29, 2023, Appellant again proceeded to trial before Judge Griffin and a different jury. Pre-trial, Defense Counsel put on the record that he requested via email to keep the original jury that was selected on August 14, 2023, because “[w]e liked the jury that we had” and “thought there was potential for prejudice that we were not allowed to keep the jury since it was not us requesting a continuance.” (R. 108, lines 12-19). Defense Counsel noted, “I didn’t get a response from the Court or the Solicitor.” (R. 108, lines 19-20).

The Trial Court responded, “I’ll note that for the record, but I think that issue, certainly, would be a discretionary one for the Court and I just didn’t believe keeping that same jury was feasible given the nature of the way the events unfolded last month.” (R. 109, lines 1-5).

### ***Motion to Dismiss***

Defense Counsel then moved to dismiss the four-year-old murder charge, arguing prosecutorial misconduct. (R. 109, lines 9-11). Defense Counsel provided a list outlining the untimely disclosure of evidence and marked it as Court’s Exhibit #4: “Then, Judge, what started this matter is on Friday, August 11th, 2023, you will notice pretty close to 500 things of evidence that we recovered from the solicitor’s office. (R. 110, lines 15-21; R. 925 – 933). This Court’s exhibit outlined the *significant* amount of discovery provided to Defense Counsel on Friday, August 11, 2023, and the additional evidence that the State disclosed *after the continuance*. (R. 925 – 933).

As outlined in Court’s Exhibit #4, Defense Counsel received the following discovery the

Friday before trial on August 14, 2023:

• 9 – 911 calls • Cad Report • CFS – Unit Response Times • Consent Forms: Barbara Jenkins, C. Rogers, R. Myers • Crime Scene Log • SPD Evidence Chains • SCSO Evidence Processing Reports • SPD Evidence Processing Reports • Recorded Statements: Gabrielle Meyers, Jaquell Myers, Tyrell Billups, Rodney Lewis, Perry Vanburen, Kendall Dow, Rasheen Rich, & Michael Lucas • 201 Acura SW Photos • 229 Altima SW Photos • 155 Buick at Sumer Wrecker Photos • 257 Corolla at John Harris Photos • 107 Impala SW Photos • 166 Snapp Lab Photos • 47 Snapp Lexus at Lex Photos • 687 Snapp Scene Photos • 236 Will Malibu Photos • 195 Snapp Scott Will Truck Photos • 173 Snapp Impound Nissan Photos • 83 Impala at Lec Photos • 84 J. Hansen Photos • 299 Kearny IV Photos • 12 AR Pistol Lab Photos • 297 Scott Will Photos • 13 W McFadden Photos • 4 screenshot photos • 7 Sled Reports • Victim Rogers Autopsy Photos, receipts, and tox • 13 BWC videos • 1 dash cam video • Enhanced hospital videos by SLED • *Facebook Live Video* • Multiview video • Video Tuomey • Scene Diagrams • SPD Automated Fingerprint Identification System (5 pages) • SPD Forensic Laboratory Processing Forms (5 pages) • SPD Crime Scene Investigation and Evidence Processing Forms (9 pages) • SPD Chain of Custody Forms (49 pages) • SPD Property Evidence Log (8 pages) • Willie McFadden 10/12/19 – Supplemental Report • Jeffrey Hansen 9/23/19 - Supplemental Report • Jeffrey Hansen 10/11/19 - Supplemental Report • Austin Michael 9/12/19 - Supplemental Report • West Thomas 9/08/19 - Supplemental Report • West Thomas 9/08/19 – Incident Report • SPD Investigative Notes (2 pages) • SLED Laboratory Forensic Service Request 10/31/19 • SPD Lieutenant’s Report 9/09/19 • SPD Lieutenant’s Report 9/13/19 • SLED DNA Department • SLED Laboratory Forensic Service Request 10/11/19 • SLED Laboratory Forensic Service Request 10/11/19 (Submission 2) • SLED Laboratory Forensic Service Request 10/22/19 • SLED Evidence Log 12/30/21 • SLED Evidence Log 3/01/22

(R. 925 – 933) (emphasis added).

Defense Counsel referenced his prior argument to the Trial Court that the docket management order issued by our Supreme Court required disclosure of evidence prior to a case being listed on the trial docket. (R. 111, lines 4-7). Defense Counsel also reiterated why he did not want a continuance of the prior trial: *“I didn’t want to change anything, the strategy in my case*

*and I was afraid that a continuance would do nothing more than hurt [Appellant's] case and I was still prepared to go forward.”* (R. 114, lines 3-6) (emphasis added).

Defense Counsel explained that he received the following additional discovery *after* the Trial Court granted the State's motion for continuance on August 14, 2023: Tyrell Billups's interview report from the federal Government on August 21; a disc with Billups's interview on August 22; an anonymous tip information on September 1; and a diagram of the Decedent created by the medical examiner on September 18. (R. 115, lines 2-22).

Defense Counsel addressed the prejudice created by the Trial Court's decision to grant a continuance: “[T]he fact that the solicitor's office as recently as the Friday before we are scheduled to go for the first trial was making an argument that there is no self-defense because [Appellant] pulled the gun first and then, possible, can only change that theory after I was forced to put this information hurts [Appellant].” (R. 118, lines 10-15). Defense Counsel further argued, “That's one of the reasons why the prejudice does exist ... *Because if they [the State] now change their strategy and say hey, by the way, we believe that [the Decedent] had a firearm, but that was not what they were going to argue to that jury some time ago.*” (R. 118, lines 16-20) (emphasis added).

In support of the motion to dismiss, Defense Counsel called the following witnesses to testify: Ninth Circuit Public Defender Cameron Blazer, Assistant U.S. Attorney Benjamin Garner, Summer Roberts (his paralegal), and attorney Lewis Warr.

#### **Attorney Cameron Blazer**

Ninth Circuit Public Defender Cameron Blazer testified that, while discussing Defense Counsel's preparation for the “Sunoco murder” trial, she informed Counsel that she “had a client [Tyrell Billups] who had given some information about that case.” (R. 121, lines 4-12). Circuit Defender Blazer also testified that the Sumter County Sheriff's Department attended one of the

proffer meetings between Mr. Billups and federal law enforcement. (R. 122, lines 19-24). Circuit Defender Blazer further testified that Mr. Billups told the federal investigator that the Decedent pulled a gun on Appellant first (contradicting the State's theory). (R. 124, lines 1-8).

Specifically, Circuit Defender Blazer testified, "my recollection is that [Billups] described, I think it was [Appellant] approaching the person known as Killa Mike [the Decedent] and having some sort of discussion/fisticuffs, and then his description of the event was that Killa Mike pulled a gun", and "I believe what he said is that Killa Mike tried to shoot [Appellant] but his gun jammed." (R. 124, lines 1-8).

Circuit Defender Blazer testified that AUSA Garner called former solicitor, John Meadors, to inform him of her client's statement. (R. 130, lines 8-18). Circuit Defender Blazer also testified that AUSA Garner "called me *immediately after* having spoken to [Solicitor John Meadors] and he was rattled." (R. 130, lines 23-25) (emphasis added). Circuit Defender Blazer further testified that AUSA Garner "conveyed to me concern that he shared with Mr. Meadors." (R. 131, lines 10-11).

Circuit Defender Blazer explained that she had been practicing law for approximately 16-17 years and almost "exclusively criminal defense since 2008." (R. 133, lines 7-12). Circuit Defender Blazer also testified that she believed that Mr. Billups's statement to federal law enforcement was exculpatory and should have been disclosed by the Solicitor's office. (R. 134, lines 1-7). Notably, Circuit Defender Blazer testified, "I meant that by that time, you knew the existence of a 302, a federal report of investigation, that should exist and that as far as I'm concerned was absolutely known to the solicitor, who was then prosecuting the case sometime around May of '22 and that had *in my opinion been withheld intentionally from you.*" (R. 135, lines 9-14; R. 916 – 924) (emphasis added).

On cross-examination, Solicitor Finney had Circuit Defender Blazer review Billups's prior statement to the Sumter Police Department and confirm that the statements are inconsistent. (R. 140, lines 18-24). Circuit Defender Blazer confirmed that Billups' statement to the Sumter Police Department occurred on September 25, 2019, and the statements to the federal investigator occurred on April 21 and May 6, 2022. (R. 141, line 12 – 142, line 21).

When asked on cross-examination whether a continuance is a remedy for when a court becomes aware of non-disclosed exculpatory information, Circuit Defender Blazer responded, "That is the bane of every defense lawyer's existence, is that the general remedy of Brady violations is to give the government more time to be less terrible." (R. 149, lines 5-10).

#### **AUSA Benjamin Garner**

AUSA Garner testified that he currently serves "as a deputy criminal chief over the narcotics and violent crime section" of the United States Attorney's Office, and that his "nine-year anniversary was last Thursday." (R. 159, lines 1-9). When asked what information Defense Counsel wanted to address by calling him as a witness, AUSA Garner testified, "Requesting information in connection with a conversation that I had with Mr. Meadors concerning information that was supplied during the course of a federal prosecution of a defendant that I was prosecuting." (R. 161, lines 15-19).

AUSA Garner testified that he prosecuted Mr. Billups, who entered a proffer agreement, and that "someone with Sumter City Police Department was present during, at least, one of the many interviews he met with law enforcement." (R. 163, line 3 – 164, line 3). Based on the proffer interviews, AUSA Garner contacted former Solicitor Meadors and "gave him a summary of the information that Mr. Billups had provided just as it pertained to the Sunoco murder case." (R. 167, lines 6-8). Specifically, AUSA testified that he provided the following information to former

Solicitor Meadors:

I indicated that based on my review of the information contained in the 302, I believed it could contribute to a self-defense claim and indicated the high nature of that I believed that Mr. Billups indicated that he witnessed the shooting and that the victim had pulled a firearm first and attempted to fire that firearm, at which point, the defendant in the Sunoco murder case discharged his weapon. That was the information that I provided to Mr. Meadors.

(R. 167, lines 11-18).

AUSA Garner testified that Meadors responded by stating, “*Who are you? I thought you were calling to help me and this doesn’t help me.*” (R. 167, lines 21-2) (emphasis added). AUSA Garner also testified, “I then offered to provide him with the 302 containing the statement that Billups had provided during the course of his debriefing with law enforcement”, and that Meadors “indicated that he would reach out to his investigators.” (R. 167, line 22 – 168, line 4). AUSA Garner further testified that he had no further contact with Meadors. (R. 169, lines 1-2).

On re-direct, AUSA Garner clarified Meador’s exact response during the phone call about Billups’ interview, “*Who are you? I thought you were trying to help me. This doesn’t help me, this hurts me.*” (R. 178, lines 10-11) (emphasis added). AUSA Garner also testified that he *immediately* called Circuit Defender Blazer to discuss Meadors’ response. (R. 178, lines 13-15).

Defense Counsel recalled Circuit Defender Blazer to testify about her conversation with AUSA Garner that occurred after his phone call with Meadors. Specifically, Circuit Defender Blazer testified that she knew AUSA Garner personally and that he was “rattled” and “[d]istressed about his phone call with Mr. Meadors.” (R. 181, line 10 – 183, line 12; R. 184, lines 7-9).

**Summer Roberts**

Defense Counsel then called his paralegal who is charge with obtaining and organizing the client discovery to testify. (R. 186, lines 2-11). Ms. Roberts testified, “Myself and Jack [Furse]

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