**RECEIVED**

**May 05 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

Appeal from Sumter County  
*Court of General Sessions*

The Honorable R. Kirk Griffin, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DIONTRAE TRAVON EPPS,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2023-001586

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

ERNEST A. FINNEY, III  
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit  
215 N. Harvin St.  
Sumter, S.C. 29150  
(803) 436-2185

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

Moreover, there could be no actual *Brady* violation because defense counsel already had the knowledge *and* the State obtained the very information and disclosed it. When advised of the separate federal investigation and the 2022 changed Billups statement, the State *did* obtain the record (the actual statement by Billups) to disclose.<sup>19</sup> Again, the record shows, and the trial court found that a change in prosecutors and a rather “sloppy” disclosure process (one that could not be easily verified) was evident, but it does not show a lack of disclosure or prejudice to the defense.

---

<sup>18</sup> Respondent notes that this corollary was observed but not applied in *Early v. State* with the Court explaining that, in stark contrast to the facts in this record, there was no evidence whether the defendant had access to the posting at issue, thus no basis for which to consider the *Anderson* corollary. *Id.*, at 269, 792 S.E.2d 226, 233 (2016). Further, the Court declined to apply the concept in a case involving an error on NCIC search information, noting that the State had “exclusive access to the NCIC database.” *State v. Durant*, 430 S.C. 98, 110, 844 S.E.2d 49, 55 (2020). Inescapably, the record here shows that Appellant had access to the information – Billups counsel contacted him about it. The corollary rule should apply in full force.

<sup>19</sup> The defense repeatedly referenced the federal investigation form, another person’s notes of the interview; yet the recorded interview was the best record of the statement.

When the September trial was at hand, Appellant could not complain of a lack of disclosure. Further, the requested relief of dismissal was untethered to the Constitutional guarantees of disclosure at issue. He was due no relief and appropriately received none.<sup>20</sup>

A dismissal of the charges is not contemplated in the plain provisions of *Brady*. Thus, the Constitution does not support such dismissal. The Fourth Circuit came to that same conclusion in considering a district court's dismissal based on a protracted discovery process that was infirmed.

In a multi-defendant case involving public correction, one defendant, after a remand for additional proceedings in the district court, moved to dismiss the indictment against him based on an allegation "of discovery violations and other alleged prosecutorial misconduct." *United States v. Derrick*, 163 F.3d 799, 803 (4th Cir. 1998). The government began a new round of disclosures. Thereafter, another defendant made similar allegations. *Id.* An investigation by the Department of Justice's Office of Professional Responsibility resolved that there had been no intentional misconduct. *Id.* Through discovery orders, the district court ultimately conducted *in camera* reviews of documents, and ordered a portion disclosed, and concluded dismissal was warranted under the court's "supervisory power." *Id.*, at 804-806. The Fourth Circuit reversed.

Finding "dismissal of the defendants' indictments without a finding of prejudice is directly contrary not only to the precedent of this court, but also to clear and well-established Supreme Court precedent." *Id.*, at 806 (citing *United States v. Hasting*, 461 U.S. 499 (1983)). The Fourth Circuit noted the Supreme Court does not allow a district court to exercise "supervisory powers"

---

<sup>20</sup> The defense appeared to have lost sight of the ultimate goal of *Brady*, to ensure that he had material evidence for his defense. Not only did the defense elicit testimony that continuances allow the State to be "less terrible," and indicated that the U.S. attorney was naïve to believe ill of state prosecutors, he pressed for credibility rulings which would, of course, not be used in any challenge to the actual receipt of the materials. The defense maintained the wrong focus throughout the lengthy pre-trial hearing.

in an effort “to evade the harmless error rule for constitutional violations” given the “interest of the victims in seeing the defendants brought to justice and the public’s interest in” prosecution under the law. *Id. See also id.*, at 807 (“The dismissal of an indictment altogether clearly thwarts the public’s interest in the enforcement of its criminal laws...”). Our courts have also adhered to this principle generally.

In *State v. Wilkins*, this Court acknowledged appellant’s argument that “the trial court erred in not dismissing the charges against him because the State failed to satisfy timely the requirements of *Brady* ... .” 310 S.C. 81, 84–85, 425 S.E.2d 68, 70 (Ct. App. 1992). Notably, in discussing the argument, this Court considered only whether “untimely disclosure of the reports warrants *reversal in this case* under *Brady*.” *Id.*, at 85, 425 S.E.2d at 70. The matter was then resolved on the finding that appellant failed to show a *Brady* violation. *Id.*, at 85, 425 S.E.2d at 70. This Court observed that where “there is no reasonable doubt about guilt whether or not the additional evidence is considered, there is no justification for a new trial.” *Id.* (quoting *Agurs*, at 109-110).

Moreover, our courts have never established that a criminal defendant will not have to face trial for his crimes based on misconduct of the solicitor even when there is a finding of intentional misconduct. In a case involving intrusion into privileged attorney-client conversation, even though our Supreme Court found “deliberate prosecutorial misconduct,” and resolved that such conduct “raise[d] an irrebuttable presumption of prejudice,” the Court ordered a new trial, not dismissal. *State v. Quattlebaum*, 338 S.C. 441, 449, 527 S.E.2d 105, 109 (2000). *Accord State v. Inman*, 395 S.C. 539, 565, 720 S.E.2d 31, 45 (2011) (mistrial not warranted even where prosecutor’s actions constituted witness intimidation and misconduct, mistrial was not warranted for lack of

prejudice).<sup>21</sup> Appellant seeks extraordinary relief – relief not supported in fact or law as it would be greatly out of step with the limited new trial relief described in other cases with specific, deliberate misconduct.

Consequently, for these reasons, Appellant is not entitled to any relief. His argument to the contrary should be rejected.

---

<sup>21</sup> Respondent notes that Appellant relies in part on the administrative docket order for the circuit. (*See* Brief of Appellant, at 26). It follows that where Appellant fails to show relief is due under *Brady*, the reliance on the discovery provisions as referenced in the administrative order will not aid his argument. Further, he provides no interpretation of that order that affects whether a trial court must suppress evidence or dismiss the case if a discovery issue arises after the case is on the roster. Since that would be contrary to precedent, it is doubtful that such an interpretation would stand.

- III. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting a Facebook clip disclosed in discovery prior to trial that was directly relevant to establish Appellant's prior animosity toward the victim when Appellant created the clip, was the first individual to reference the clip in the investigation, and the witnesses describing the clip at trial identified Appellant as the individual in the clip and that the clip was from a "Facebook Live" segment that played a few weeks prior to the murder and contains threats toward the victim. [Appellant's Issues II, III and IV].

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT:**

In his first complaint against the admission of the Facebook clip, Appellant largely repeats his argument that the clip, which was provided before the August proceeding, was not timely disclosed which denied him a fair trial. (Brief of Appellant, at 29). He alleges the State's "unjust behavior" will continue until "the State suffers the appropriate consequences...." (Brief of Appellant, at 31). He omits the fact that Appellant was the first person to identify the Facebook post to detectives. Appellant shows no error in the disclosure of material – that he was aware of – prior to the initial August proceedings in advance of his September trial.

In his second complaint, Appellant challenges the authentication of the evidence as the clip was identified by someone who did not "create the video" or "know when the video was recorded," and "did not receive the video from the person who created it, or "know the individuals in the video," and "agreed that it was not the complete video recording." (Brief of Appellant, at 32). However, authentication merely means that the item is what it purports to be. Since Appellant created it, was in it, referenced it during the investigation, and apparently does not contest that he made the video in which he expressly threatened the murder victim mere weeks before killing him, his complaints are insufficient to show a lack of authentication, and also insufficient to show "unfair prejudice." (Brief of Appellant, at 33).

In his third, and last, complaint regarding the video clip's admission, Appellant argues because the video was not "complete" the admission of any part of it caused a "misleading

impression” and absent the remainder of the video, that “misleading impression” could not be addressed. (Brief of Appellant, at 34). While the defense asked questions of the witness who identified the video, whether there was “a lot more,” there was no indication that anything was ever seen by the murder victim or his girlfriend other than the express threats made by Appellant. (See R. p. 287, lines 1-16). Even so, the clip shows the song which repeats the victim’s nickname and the threats for approximately one minute and thirty-six seconds. (State’s Exhibit 1). Another individual in the clip makes a gun motion. (State’s Exhibit 1 at approx. 1:19 on the clips timer).

All in all, Appellant’s arguments are insufficient to show an abuse of discretion in admission of the relevant, telling, and timely video.

#### **RELEVANT FACTS:**

When objecting to the continuance of the August 2023 trial, defense counsel specifically objected to “one Facebook video that was given to us on Friday morning,” based on his assertion that “the new chief administrative order” supported that it must be assumed if the trial is placed on the roster that all discovery has been provided. (R. 45, lines 10-20). Defense counsel argued that he did not want the State to have an opportunity to cure any potential discovery issue, and, thus, have an argument that the late disclosed material was received in time for trial. As such, he requested that “this to be a snapshot that the discovery, no matter what was not provided, was on the docket and not provided [until] the Friday before trial.” (R. 46, lines 5-11). He also asserted that was his “strongest argument,” and “[t]he rest of them can wait depending on what the Court” decides on the State’s motion. (R. 46, lines 10-11). The court deferred ruling until after the continuance as addressed. (R. 46, lines 14-15).

During the motion to dismiss the charges heard on September 25th, counsel renewed his complaints about late discovery, but underscored that he was ready, willing, and prepared to go to

trial on August 14, 2023. Defense counsel argued that he was concerned “that a continuance would do nothing more than hurt Mr. Epps’ case....” (R. 109, line 7 – p. 114, line 6). After a lengthy presentation concerning the Billups federal statement, defense counsel added, in summary fashion, “please understand that” in addition to the Billups statement, Appellant was “complaining about the delayed discovery, also.” (R. 237, lines 14-17). The next day the trial judge ruled on the motion to dismiss, finding no prejudice to Appellant where

... the Defense has the evidence in his head, adequate time to review the evidence and make a determination as to whether they will seek to use the evidence at trial. ...

Obviously, in this case, the discovery process was messy and the records that were kept when discovery was produced were potentially - - I guess one could view them as deficient, but, ultimately, the Defense has the information. And I understand it got the information on the eve of the first time this case was called for trial and that the Defense was in a unique position given how the evidence was discovered, but, ultimately, they have the evidence and they could use - - they can do with that evidence whatever they see fit.

(R. p. 254, line 13 – 255, line 6). He did not find the situation “rises to the level of a due process violation” and could not support dismissal. (R. p. 255, line 25 – p. 256, line 1).

The pre-trial hearing continued and the State advised the trial judge that Ms. Arkell Eaglin, who was the victim’s girlfriend, would authenticate the Facebook Live clip in which Appellant is making threats against the victim approximately one month before the murder. (R. 258, lines 11-19). Ms. Eaglin was called at the pre-trial proceedings. She testified that she had previously testified in the Joquell Myers trial and had also reviewed the Facebook clip for that trial. (R. 276, lines 21 – p. 277, line 4). For background, Ms. Eaglin testified that she saw the clip before the victim but showed the clip to the victim and they discussed it. (R. 279, line 24- p. 280, line 14). Her advice to the victim was “[t]o just stay away and stay inside, stay inside and stay out of the

way.” (R. p. 281, lines 1-5). She saw the video right before a birthday beach trip for the victim, and they discussed after they returned. (R. p. 280, line 3 – p. 281, line 8). The victim’s birthday was August the 9<sup>th</sup> and he was killed just a month later on September the 8<sup>th</sup>. (R. p. 283, lines 18-24). She identified Appellant as the lead singer. (R. 282, lines 7-13). She did not know any of the other men who walked through the video as Appellant was singing. (R. 284, lines 6-13). On cross-examination, she agreed with defense counsel that she had not made the video; did not know who made the video; “cannot testify to the authenticity of who made it or when,” did not personally know the individuals in the video; and that there would be more videos, or more to that video. (R. 286, line 6 – p. 288, line 11).

The State also called Detective Willie McFadden. He also recognized the video clip. (R. 289, lines 16-22). The detective testified Appellant as “singing the song and doing most of the talking,” and also recognized Jay McBride (deceased) and Joquell Myers. (R. p. 290, lines 13-25). Both McBride and Myers were at the gas station during the shout-out, and, with others, also accompanied Appellant to the hospital. (R. 291, lines 3-25). He testified that during the first interview the detective had with Appellant, when asked about the victim and any problems with the victim, Appellant:

... stated that he made a comment on Facebook ... after Killa Mike was jumped in a club, but went on to say that he didn’t - - that didn’t have nothing to do with it.

(R. 293, lines 3-8).

It was only later that the video clip was provided anonymously by someone in the victim’s family. (R. 293, line 9 – p. 298, line 4; p. 299, lines 2-4). He also agreed with defense counsel that it appears the clip is part of a longer video. (R. 298, lines 15-17).

The State argued that the video was “within 30 days” of the murder; and “kind of speaks for itself in terms of the taunting and the unfriendliness of the tone” taken by Appellant. (R. 29, lines 18-25). The State acknowledged there may be more to the recording, but the clip was unmistakably relevant as to motive and animosity. (R. 300, line 1 – p. 301, line 5).

The defense harkened back to his August argument and his position that the video disclosure was late then. (R. 301, line 19- p. 302, line 23). Next the defense argued that the video could not be properly authenticated by a person with personal knowledge. (R. 302, line 24 – p. 304, line 11). Then, counsel argued that the rule of completeness necessitates the State contact Facebook, obtain the full video, and provide it to the defense before it may be admitted. (R. 304, line 12 – 305, line 10). Defense counsel also argued “a confrontation clause problem and a possible hearsay problem,” since no one with personal knowledge would testify, (R. 305, lines 11-18), but that argument is not raised in the appeal. Finally, in addition to arguing prejudice from delayed disclosure, and an incomplete clip that goes to motive that need not be proven, defense counsel argued that the time was actually unknown since there was no testimony offered as to when the video was made. (R. 306, line 10- 307, line 12).

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